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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this civil penalty proceeding initiated by the Secretary
of Labor ("Secretary"), on behalf of the Mne Safety and Health
Adm nistration ("MSHA"), pursuant to Sections 105(a) and 110(i)
of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977 ("M ne Act" or
"Act"), 30 U.S.C. O 815(a), 820(i), the Secretary seeks the
assessment of a civil penalty against C& M ning Conpany ("C&B")
for C&B's alleged violation of Section |03(a) of the Act, 30
U S.C. 0O 813(a).(Footnote 1)

The Secretary asserts that on January 28, 1992, MsSHA
i nspector Dennis Myers was denied entry to C&'s No. 2 Vein Slope
M ne by d enn Parks, the mne's hoisting engineer. According to
the Secretary, Parks was acting on the orders of Gary Lorenz, an
owner of C&B. The Secretary asserts that because Myers was at
the m ne to conduct an inspection pursuant to Section 103(i),
30 U.S.C. 0O 813(i), of the Act, C&B violated section |03(a) when

Section 103(a) authorizes MSHA i nspectors to conduct frequent
i nvestigations and inspections of the nation's mnes, to determ ne, anong
ot her things, whether an inm nent danger exists and whether there is
conpliance with applicable mandatory health and safety standards pronul gated
pursuant to the Act. To acconplish these purposes MSHA is authorized "to nake
i nspections of each mine inits entirety at |least four tines a year."
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it denied himentry. (Footnote 2) The Secretary proposes a civil penalty of
one-thousand dollars ($1,000) be assessed for the alleged violation

Lorenz, on behalf of C&B, contests the proposed penalty.
A hearing was conducted in WIIliansport, Pennsylvania, at which Anita Eve-
Wi ght represented the Secretary and Myers and James Schoffstall, Mers
supervisor, testified for the Secretary. Lorenz represented C& and testified
for the conpany. At the close of the hearing the parties orally summari zed
their positions.

THE SECRETARY' S W TNESSES

Myers stated that he first inspected the No. 2 Vein Slope Mne -- a
smal | anthracite mne -- in October 1991. Tr.12. The inspection in Cctober
was the beginning of the regular quarterly inspection required by Section
103(a) of the Act. According to Myers, in January 1992, coal was being
extracted at the nmine in the vicinity of uncharted, abandoned workings. In
order to nmake certain that C&B personnel were drilling ahead and into the coa
they intended to mne, so as to give thenmselves warning if they were
approaching the ol d workings, MSHA put the m ne on a section 103(i) "spot
i nspection"” basis. Under the spot inspection program Myers was required to
conduct unschedul ed weekly inspections at the mne. Tr. 12-13. Mers
expl ai ned that the inspections were needed because in the anthracite coa
fields water or contam nated air frequently collects in old workings and if
there is an unintended breakthrough into the old workings a rapid and
potentially deadly inundation of water or rel ease of contaminated air can
occur into the active workings of the mne

On January 24, 1992, Myers went to the mne to conduct one of the
requi red weekly inspections. Mers stated that he arrived at approxi mately
8.45 a.m He net Parker and told Parker he was there "for a weekly hazard

i nspection.” Tr. 13. Mers testified that while he was changi ng his cl othing
to go underground, Parker told Myers that Lorenz had said "to run [ Myers] off
if [he] showed up." Id. In the neantine, the mners had cone out of the nmne

to eat, and Lorenz, who was there, spoke with Myers about why the nmine had
been placed on a spot inspection schedule. Lorenz then left the mne, telling
Myers that he had a personal problem at hone. 1d.

Section 103(i) provides that if MSHA finds that there exists in a coa
m ne sone "especially hazardous condition" that is not gas related, it shal
provi de a mni mum of one spot inspection of all parts of the nmine every five
wor ki ng days at irregular intervals. Section 103(a) provides the right of
entry that allows MSHA' s inspectors to acconplish this purpose.
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Myers testified that after Lorenz left, Parker took a truck of coal to
the stockpile. When he failed to return, another C&B enpl oyee went to find
out what was wong. Mers was told that the truck had devel oped a nechani ca
probl em and that the m ne would have to close at the end of the day. Mers
and the mners left the mne. Tr. 13-14.

After leaving, Myers stated that he went to the MSHA field office in
Shanoki n, Pennsyl vania, and told his supervisor, Schoffstall, what had
happened. Tr. 14. Schoffstall instructed Myers to return to the mne the
next wor ki ng day (Monday,

January 27, 1992) and to again try to conduct an inspection
Tr. 14-15.

Myers returned as directed. Upon arriving at the mne he net Lorenz and
Lorenz's brother, Cal Lorenz. Tr. 15. (Mers stated that Cal Lorenz is the
foreman at the mne.) Lorenz told Myers that Schoffstall had told him"to
think it over about letting [Mers] inspect," that he had done so and that he
had deci ded Myers could not inspect the mine. Id. Lorenz stated that "[t] he
Federal could inspect but [Mers] couldn't inspect." Id.

Myers understood Lorenz to mean that any MSHA i nspector other than hinmself
coul d conduct an inspection but that he could not.

Al so, Lorenz indicated to Myers that he did not |ike Myers' attitude.
Myers asked Lorenz what was wong with his attitude but Lorenz did not reply.
Id. (Footnote 3) Mers advised the brothers that he would | eave so they could
"think it over" but if they continued to refuse to I et himinspect the mne he
woul d have to issue to C& a citation for "denial of entry." Tr. 16. Mers
then tel ephoned Schoffstall and recounted the situation. He told Schoffstal
that he would return the foll owing day and would try to conduct the
i nspection. Tr. 17.

Myers came back the next nmorning. He net Parker at the hoist building
and Parker reiterated that Lorenz had instructed himnot to let Myers into the
mne. Tr. 18. |In that case, Myers responded, he would issue to C&B a
citation for denying himentry, and that the violation was a significant and
substantial ("S&S") contribution to a mine safety or health hazard. He al so
stated he woul d ask that the violation be specially assessed. (Footnote 4)

In addition, Myers stated that Cal Lorenz told him C&B had begun retreat
m ning and therefore spot inspections were not |onger necessary.
Tr. 16. Myers agreed that if, in fact, C& was retreat mning, inspections
conducted pursuant to section 103(i) no | onger would have been required.
Tr. 18.

The Secretary's regulations for the determ nation of penalty by specia
assessnment are set forth at 30 C.F. R, Part 100. Section 100.5(d) provides
that when a violation has been issued for a failure to permt an
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Myers issued the citation and returned to the MSHA office where he
di scussed the situation with Schoffstall. Schoffstall sent Myers back to the
m ne and instructed MSHA i nspector Paul Sargent to acconpany him Once back
Myers asked Parker if he could conduct the inspection? Parker said "no," and
Myers issued to C& an order of withdrawal pursuant to Section 104(b) of the
Act, 30 U.S.C. O 814(b), for failing to abate the violation of section
103(a). (Footnote 5) Mers and Sargent then net Cal Lorenz who told Myers that
Sargent could inspect but that Myers could not. Tr. 19-20.

Myers and Sargent returned to the MSHA office. Later in the day Lorenz
came to the office and, according to Myers, confronted him Mers described
what happened:

Lorenz came stalking into the office in a very
aggressive manner, wal ked over to ne, started pointing
his finger and telling me | would not dictate to him.
anynore. That was his property, that was his
m ne, he would say who would go in and who woul dn't
He was putting no trespassing signs up and | was
to be nowhere around.

Tr. 20-21. Schoffstall intervened and called Lorenz into his office. After a
"behi nd cl osed doors" conference, Schoffstall asked Myers to join them Mers
testified that he asked Lorenz what he had done to cause Lorenz to object to
his presence at the mne. Mers nmaintained that Lorenz would not respond
except to ask Schoffstall why C& could not be assigned another

i nspector?(Footnote 6) When Schoffstall explained why he could not appoint
anot her inspector for the nmne, Lorenz left the office. Tr. 21

4 (CONT....
i nspector to performan inspection or investigation, MSHA will review the
violation to detern ne whether a special assessnment is appropriate.

Section 104(b) states in relevant part that if an inspector finds that
the violation described in a citation has not been abated and that the
operator should not be given further time to abate, the inspector shal
pronmptly issue an order requiring the withdrawal of mners and prohibiting
their reentry until the inspector determ nes the violation has been abat ed.

During cross-exam nation Lorenz asked Myers if he recalled coning to a
garage owned by Lorenz on January 26 and confronting Lorenz about an alleged
failure of C& to comply with a mandatory standard? Lorenz asked if Mers
remenbered pointing a finger at himand telling himin a |loud voice that if
C&B did not conmply, Myers would shut down the mine? Mers responded he
recalled comng to the garage shortly after Christmas but did not recal
pointing a finger at Lorenz or "carrying on" and he denied that he had told
Lorenz to fix the condition or he would "wite it." Tr. 30-31
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Myers testified that the followi ng day (January 29) Lorenz called
Schoffstall and told himthat Myers could inspect. Mers went to the mne
and conducted the inspection. Wen he cane out of the mne he discussed with
Cal Lorenz and C&B's miners "the type of pillaring nethod they could use, the
ventilation they needed and . . . safe mning practices in pillaring.” Tr.
22. As a result of the inspection Myers determ ned that C&B had begun retreat
m ning and that section 103(i) spot inspections were no |onger needed.
Therefore, the mne was taken off a spot inspection schedule. 1d.

Myers testified that he found the violation to be S&S because wit hout
i nspecting the m ne MSHA could not determine if C& was drilling ahead as it
advanced toward the old workings. Wthout drilling there was no way to know
for certain if C&' s mning process would cut into the old workings and
whet her those ol d workings contai ned water or contam nated air. |f they did,
he believed there was a very real danger to C&B' s underground m ners of at
| east permanently disabling injuries.
Tr. 22-23, 24.

Myers al so stated he believed the denial of entry to have been caused by
C&B' s reckless disregard of the law. He noted that he had explained to Lorenz
why he was there to inspect and that Lorenz, who was fully aware of the
consequences of refusing to let himinto the m ne, nonethel ess persisted in
his refusal. Tr. 24.

Schoffstall was the next witness to testify. He confirned that he had
first assigned Myers to inspect the mne as part of the regular quarterly
i nspection during COctober 1991. Tr. 41. |In Decenber, when the mne nap
showed the mine to be within 200 feet of old, abandoned workings, MSHA pl aced
the mine on a section [03(i) inspection program |d.

Schoffstall explained in detail the dangers posed by old, abandoned
wor ki ngs -- the dangers of a sudden and unexpected inundating or
contam nation. He recalled the Porter Tunnel disaster of 1979 when 9 niners
were killed by a sudden mine flood and he indicated that another |ife had been

lost simlarly in the early 1980's. He termed the need for advance drilling
"one of [MSHA's] top priorities" in the anthracite region. Tr 42. According
to Schoffstall, C& was placed on an section 103(i) inspection schedule "to
see that the drilling programwas carried out."” Tr. 43.

In addition, Schoffstall gave his version of the events of January. He
confirmed that on January 24, 1992, Myers told himabout being barred from
i nspecting the mine and Schoffstall told Myers to go back on the 27th.
Schoffstall added that on January 24, 1992, Lorenz had called and stated that
he woul d permit another inspector to enter the mne but that he woul d not
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allow Myers in. Tr. 44, Schoffstall testified he told Lorenz that he should
reconsi der, that a denial of entry was a very serious matter and that no mne
operator had ever won a denial of entry case. Id.

Schoffstall also stated that this was not his only conversation with
Lorenz on the subject, that on January 27, 1992, and after Myers had returned
to the office, Lorenz again called Schoffstall and requested another inspector
be assigned to the nine. Lorenz told Schoffstall that he had a verba
di sagreement with Myers at Lorenz's garage. Schoffstall responded that he did
not feel a change was warranted and he warned Lorenz again about the serious
nature of a denial of entry. Tr. 45.

In addition, Schoffstall testified that followi ng the i ssuance of the
order of withdrawal Lorenz cane to the MSHA office and confronted Myers.
Schoffstall described Lorenz as "worked up" and Schoffstall stated that after
Lorenz cal nred down he told Lorenz to go hone and reconsider, that the quickest
way to solve the problemwas to let Myers in. Tr. 46-47. The follow ng
nor ni ng, Lorenz called Schoffstall and told him Myers coul d conduct the
i nspection. Tr. 47.

Schoffstall testified that he went to the mne with Myers and
acconpani ed hi mduring the inspection. Wen Lorenz was able to show that the
m ne was not bei ng advanced any |onger, Schoffstall recomrended to the MSHA
district manager that the mne be taken off the section 103(i) spot inspection
schedul e, which was done. Tr. 47.

Schoffstall stated that he had reviewed Myers' findings after Myers
i ssued the citation and order and that he agreed the violation was S&S. He
echoed Myers' concerns regardi ng possible inundation of water or contani nated
air should C&B's miners have cut into old workings. Id., Tr. 57. He also
agreed with Myers that the violation was due to C&' s reckl ess disregard of
the requirenents of the Act. Tr. 48-49.

Under questioning by Lorenz, Schoffstall related that during Cctober
1991 and January 1992, Lorenz frequently called himand asked that a different
i nspector be assigned to the mne
Tr. 50. Schoffstall stated that he recalled Lorenz asserting that he "didn't
like [Myers'] attitude[,]" that he "didn't like the way he inspected[,]" and
that Lorenz had asked for a different inspector "right fromthe first day."
Id. Schoffstall agreed C& had no problenms with any other of MSHA' s
i nspectors and he described C& as a "very cooperative" and safe operator
Tr. 50-51.
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Wth regard to his refusal to change inspectors, Schoffstall was of the
opi nion that MSHA could not allow an operator to dictate who would or would
not inspect and that while there m ght be instances where he and the MSHA
district manager would find cause to change an inspector, he did not believe
there had been any reason to change in this instance. Tr. 53-54.

C&B' S W TNESSES

Lorenz explained that he is one of two partners who own C&B, the other
being Cynthia Lorenz, his sister-in-law. Tr. 7-8. Regarding his relationship
with Myers, Lorenz stated that he had a conflict with Myers fromthe first
time Myers was at the mne, but he denied that C&B was trying to dictate to
MSHA who woul d be allowed to inspect the mne. Rather, he was trying to
i npress upon MSHA the fact that a change of inspectors was truly needed.

Tr. 59-60.

Wth respect to the danger to miners presented by the alleged violation
he indicated that when the citation and order were issued mning was no | onger
advanci ng. The coal had narrowed to a 17 inch seam and the conpany had only
100 feet to go before it reached the Iinmt of its coal |ease. For these
reasons, the conpany had started retreat mning. Therefore, there was no
hazard. Tr. 60.

DI SCUSSI ON AND FI NDI NGS
THE VI OLATI ON

The right of entry is clearly set forth in the Mne Act. Section 103(a)
of the Act provides that "for the purpose of making any inspection or
i nvestigation under this [Act] " MSHA inspector's "shall have a right of entry
to, upon or through any coal . . . mne." As the Comm ssion has noted, the
right is broad, and while the Comm ssion has also stated that the right is not
without Iimts, the record does not suggest, nor does C&B argue, that Myers
was acting outside the bounds of statutory authority on January 28, 1992, when
he sought to inspect the mne. Tracy & Partners, et al., 11 FMSHRC 1457, 1461
(August 1989).

In Tracy & Partners a majority of the Comn ssion concluded that while
all inspections of mnes under section 103 are conducted pursuant to the basic
authority of section 103(a), when MSHA attenpts to conduct a spot inspection
pursuant to section 103(i), the spot inspection nust be valid in the first
i nstance
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under section 103(i) itself. 11 FMSHRC at 1464.(Footnote 7) Section 103(i)
provi des for spot inspections whenever the Secretary "finds . . . that

[a] hazardous condition exists" other than excessive |iberation of nethane or
ot her expl osive gases or an explosion or ignition of methane or other gases
within the previous five years. Here, Mers and Schoffstall testified w thout
contradiction of the hazards associated with cutting into old, abandoned
wor ki ngs.  Wthout entering the mne and i nspecting, MSHA did not know and
could not tell whether C&B's miners were being protected fromthose hazards by
drilling ahead. Nor, as Lorenz agreed, was there any way for MSHA to know,
aside fromtaking Lorenz's word, that the mine was no | onger being advanced
and that retreat mining had started. Tr.61

Cbvi ously, MSHA cannot be expected to carry out its enforcenent
responsibilities by relying solely on the representations of those subject to
the Act's mandates, if it could there would be no need for inspections. |
therefore find that on January 28, 1992, MSHA properly concluded that "a
hazardous condition exist[ed]" at the nmne and that the spot inspection it
sought to conduct was valid in the first instance under section 103(i).

Thi s being the case, when Myers requested entry on
January 28, 1992, C&B was legally bound to admt himand | conclude that in
refusing himadn ssion C& violated section 103(a) as charged.

Nor can C&B's willingness to permit entry to any inspector other than
Myers in any sense lessen its liability. The Act provides that authorized
representatives of the Secretary shall make frequent inspections and | eaves
enforcenent in the Secretary's hands. |t does not provide for inspections by
aut horized representatives of the Secretary as approved by the operator, and
clearly the power to designate inspectors nust be MSHA's if the Act is to be
effectively enforced. (Footnote 8)

I, of course, am bound by the reasoning of the majority, but for another
view on the statutory basis for a valid spot inspection see the dissent of
Commi ssi oners Backl ey and Lastowka. 11 FMSHRC at 1466-70.

This is not to say that situations warranting the renoval of an
i nspector upon the conplaint of an operator may never arise. On the contrary,
Schoffstall indicated such circunstances can exist. Tr. 53-54. Rather, it is
sinmply to recognize that the final decision is first, last and al ways MSHA' s
not the operator's.
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S&S VI OLATI ON

Foll owi ng the hearing | requested a witten statenent of position from
the parties regarding the follow ng question:

Can a violation of Section 103(a) of
the Mne Act be a S&S violation?

In requesting the statenent | took note of the fact that the wording of
Section 104(d) of the Act, 30 U.S.C. 814(d), appears to restrict an

i nspector's S&S finding to "a violation of any mandatory health or safety
standard” (enphasis added). C&B's representative did not respond. However
counsel for the Secretary stated in part:

[P]l ease be advised that the Secretary . . . submts
that a finding that a violation of Section 103(a)

need not be based on the additional finding that the
violation was a [S&S] contribution to a m ne safety
hazard. Whereas the gravity associated with the
violation of a mandatory safety or health standard is
determined to be [S&S], it nmust be determ ned whet her
the gravity involved in a violations of Section 103(a)
of the Act is serious.

Letter from Anita Eve-Wight (February 1, 1993).

I conclude fromthis that the Secretary is dropping his allegations
regarding the S&S nature of the violation at issue, and | will therefore order
the Secretary to vacate the inspector's S&S finding.

CIVIL PENALTY CRI TERI A

In assessing a civil penalty for the violation of section 103(a), | nust
consider the statutory civil penalty criteria contained in Section 110(i) of
t he Act.

GRAVI TY

This was a very serious violation. The right of an inspector selected
by MSHA to enter a mine to conduct an inspection or investigation is a
keystone for the Act's structure of enforcenment. As | have al ready observed,
if an operator can selectively bar entry to an inspector, effective
enforcenent will be severely conprom sed.
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It matters not for purposes of assessing the gravity of the violation
that at the tinme Myers was denied pernission to enter there was no need to
drill ahead because mining was retreating. The violation for which C&B is
charged is a denial of entry not a failure to practice a particular mning
t echni que.

NEGLI GENCE

Myers' and Schoffstall's testinony that Lorenz was advised that a
refusal to adnmit Myers would be a violation of the Act, was not refuted.
VWil e Lorenz may have believed that in offering to accept any inspector other
then Myers he was within his rights as an operator, he was m staken and in
ordering Myers' barred fromthe mne, Lorenz acted at his conpany's peril. |
conclude that C& was highly negligent in allowing the violation to exist.

HI STORY OF PREVI QUS VI OLATI ONS

The conpany's history of previous violations is negligible and counse
for the Secretary stated that there is no record of any prior violation of
section 103(a). Tr. 9.

SI ZE

Myers stated that C& enploys 4 miners as well as hoist engineer Parks
and foreman Cal Lorenz. Although he did not know the tonnage of anthracite
coal produced annually by the conpany, he was of the opinion that C&B is a
smal | operator, and | so find. Tr. 36-37.

ABI LI TY TO CONTI NUE | N BUSI NESS

The record does not contain any information regarding C&' s financia
condition, and Lorenz did not contend that the anmpbunt of any penalty assessed
woul d adversely affect C&B's ability to continue in business. Therefore,
find that it will not.

CIVIL PENALTY

VWhile I have found that the violation of section 103(a) was very serious
and that C&B was highly negligent, | nonethel ess conclude that this violation
is an aberration in an otherw se enviable record of conpliance. |
particularly note Schoffstall's testinony that aside fromthe problens
i nvol ving Myers, he found C&B to be very cooperative and | also note
Schoffstall's affirmative response when Lorenz asked if he considered the mne
to be very safe. Tr. 51-52. This overall positive attitude toward conpliance
is also witnessed by C&B's negligible history of previous violations.
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Consi dering these factor's, and in light of the other civil penalty
criteria, | conclude that the one-thousand dollar ($1,000) civil penalty
proposed by the Secretary is excessive. |Instead, | assess a civil penalty of
five-hundred dollars ($500.) It should go wi thout saying that any repeat
vi ol ati ons of section 103(a) that conme before me may be subject to
substantially higher penalties.

In assessing a civil penalty |ower than that proposed by the Secretary |
amin no way inplying criticismof Myers. Fromwhat appears in this record it
is apparent that he is a conscientious inspector who with diligence and great
patience attenpted to carry out the duties required of him

ORDER

Citation No. 3080842 is affirmed. Wthin thirty (30) days of the date
of this decision C&B IS ORDERED to pay a civil penalty of five-hundred dollars
($500) for the violation of section 103(a) found herein. |In addition, the
Secretary |'S ORDERED to nodify Citation No. 3080841 and Order No. 3080842 by
del eting the S&S desi gnati ons.

Davi d F. Barbour
Adm ni strative Law Judge
(703) 756-5232
Di stribution:
Anita D. Eve-Wight, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U. S. Department of Labor, 3535 Market Street, 14480-Gateway Buil ding,
Phi | adel phia, PA 19104 (Certified Mil)
M. Gary L. Lorenz, RD #2, Box 861, Shamokin, PA 17872 (Certified Mail)
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